IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 82112

Electronically Filed Apr 19 2021 07:47 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

TY ALBISU, ROSIE ALBISU, and ANCHOR S-RANCH AND RENTALS, LLC.

Appellants,

v.

KIMBLE WILKINSON,

Respondent.

Appeal from a Bench Trial Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment
The Sixth Judicial District Court of Nevada
The Honorable Michael Montero, District Judge
District Court Case No. CV-0021509

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Carolyn E. Tanner (#5520)
Tanner Law & Strategy Group, LTD.
lina@tanner1nv.com
P.O. Box 18351, Reno, Nevada 89511
Telephone: 775.235.6786

Attorney for Appellants

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Sixth Judicial District Court entered a Bench Trial Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment on October 9, 2020. Joint Appendix Volume 2 (JA v.2) at 196. Appellants Ty Albisu, Rosie Albisu, and Anchor S-Ranch and Rentals, LLC filed a Notice of Appeal on November 6, 2020, JA v. 2 at 385. Jurisdiction lies with this Court pursuant to NRAP 3A (b)(1)(a).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an appeal of judgement after bench trial of a civil matter; therefore, this appeal is presumptively assigned to the Nevada Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17 (b) (1).

III. STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED

A. The district court erred by failing to rule upon the motion of Appellants to dismiss the action before him for the Respondent's failure to join necessary parties.

B. The district court erred in finding that Respondent met each of the elements necessary to obtain a prescriptive easement across Appellants' property as to seasonal cattle driving and as to the movement of vehicles and farm equipment for Respondent's convenience.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final judgment after a bench trial conducted via the Zoom format due to the COVID 19 pandemic.¹ The trial addressed Respondent's Amended Complaint raising nine causes of action, and Appellant's Amended Answer and Counterclaim raising defenses to claims and five counterclaims. JA v. 1 at 58 and 135, respectively.

The district court denied Respondent's claims for Trespass to Land or Chattels;

Declaratory Judgment; damages for interference with Respondent's Water Rights;

Preliminary and Permanent Injunctive Relief; Easement by Necessity; and

Unauthorized Use of Water. The district court granted Respondent's claim for

Prescriptive Easement.

The district court dismissed the Appellants' counterclaims for damages related to Trespass to Real Property, Forage and Fences, and Loss of Livestock; and Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress. The district court did not address Appellant's claim that Respondent failed to join all necessary parties under NRCP (19)(a)(1).

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent Kimble Wilkinson (Mr. Wilkinson) is a part owner of 120 acres of land located on both sides of Nouque Road and east of U.S. Highway 95 in

2

¹ There was no court reporter at the trial. The Zoom platform was challenging as the parties and the court were in three different locations. The court reporter retained by Appellants did her best to transcribe the proceeding under the unique challenges of 2020.

Humboldt County near the town of McDermitt ("Wilkinson Property"). JA v. 1 at 197; JA v. 6 at 543. Mr. Wilkinson is also a co-owner of property commonly known as the Minor Ranch on the west side of U.S. Highway 95. JA v. 1 at 197. Mr. Wilkinson and his associates purchased the Minor Ranch and the Nouque Road property in 1994. The Wilkinson Property and Minor Ranch ownership structure is as follows: An undivided 25% interest to Mr. Wilkinson; an undivided 25% interest to Mr. Wilkinson's wife, Susan Wilkinson; and a 50% undivided interest to the Wilkinson Article 5 Trust (collectively, the Wilkinsons). JA v.3 at 452. The Wilkinsons' ranch holdings also include property across the Nevada border, in Malheur County, Oregon (the "Oregon Property"). *Id*.

The Appellants own real property surrounding the Wilkinson Property on three sides ("Albisu Property"). JA v. 6 at 543. The Albisu Property is significantly larger than the Wilkinson Property, consisting of approximately 3,000 acres on the east side of U.S. 95, and approximately 2,400 acres on the west side. JA v.4 at 652. The Albisu Property was formerly federal public land managed under the United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management ("BLM"). Ty Albisu's grandfather, Frank Albisu, purchased the Albisu Property from the BLM in or about 1984. JA v. at 454. On or about April 1, 1985, Frank Albisu recorded what would now be considered a tentative subdivision map wherein he divided the Albisu Property into 26 approximately 40-acre parcels, and where he did "hereby grant the

easements as indicated hereon." JA v.14 at 772; JA v.6 at 543; JA v.5 at 401 et. seq. The parcel map offered for dedication 60' easements for existing roads, and 30' easements for roads and utilities for the subdivision. JA v.14 at 772. Frank Albisu never developed the subdivision, nor did he deed any parcel therein to anyone outside of the Albisu family. On June 5, 1997, John and Rosie Albisu purchased the Albisu Property via Quitclaim Deed. JA v.1 at 198. John and Rosie Albisu commissioned a survey of the Albisu Property shortly after acquiring it, and a new fence line was installed in accordance with the survey that allowed the Albisus to gain additional land from the Wilkinsons. JA v.4 at 609. Ty Albisu purchased two 80-acre parcels of the Albisu Property from his parents in 2010, prior to marriage. *Id.* 652. Over time, Ty's parents deeded the remaining parcels to Ty, and later Ty quitclaimed them to himself and his wife, Linda Walker Albisu, as joint tenants.

Mr. Wilkinson is a co-owner of a cow/calf operation wherein cattle are moved seasonally from the Wilkinson Property to the Wilkinson Ranch's Oregon Property. Mr. Wilkinson testified that the Minor family had driven cattle across the Albisu Property when it was BLM land. JA v.3 at 422. Mr. Wilkinson purchased the Wilkinson Property in 1994, and he testified that the Wilkinson Ranch drove cattle seasonally through the Albisu Property since that time. JA v.3 at 427. Specifically, Mr. Wilkinson testified that the Wilkinson Ranch does one cattle drive in the spring of approximately 400 head of cattle, and in the fall, they conduct two drives of

approximately 300 and then 200 head of cattle. *See e.g.*, JA. v.3 at 423 – 426. Mr. Wilkinson testified that he attempts to utilize existing dirt and gravel roads as he travels through the Albisu Property. *Id.* at 426. Mr. Wilkinson's son, Barry Wilkinson, testified that whether a spring drive occurred was dependent upon the year. In addition, Mr. Wilkinson testified that he has utilized the Albisu Property near Gate 1 for the movement of farm equipment during irrigating season to get to Nouque Road. JA v.3 at 435.

Mr. Wilkinson testified that without a mutual agreement as to a specific cattle drive, the custom in the region is that "a lot of people would like to know when you're moving through so that you can – they can have their cattle out of the way, or obstructions out of the way, just for courtesy on their parts as far as mine. It's [been] that way for a hundred years, 70 years that I've been here." JA. v.3 at 433. In discussing the custom of moving cattle through another's property, Mr. Wilkinson noted how he would treat gates, "If you find it open, you normally leave it open, unless you've discussed it with the owner, and he requests that you would close it after to help him, so he didn't have to do it." *Id.* at 434. Mr. Wilkinson testified that the first time his access to the Albisu Property was blocked was on April 5, 2018 when a boulder was placed in front of a gate. *Id.* at 437. "After several disputes of going through the blocked fence, I had to keep cutting the fence to move and use access to that ground. And in one trip through there I received a flat tire, and started

searching around, and there were spikes thrown in – driven into the form of my path in four different places." *Id.* at 438. Mr. Wilkinson's son, Barry, also testified that their access was first denied in 2018. *Id.* at 509.

Mr. Wilkinson admitted that he had never had any association with Frank Albisu, who owned the property until 1997. *Id.* at 454. "... we weren't moving cattle across that land under Frank Albisu's time." *Id.* Mr. Wilkinson admitted that the Amended Complaint he filed was incorrect in asserting that John and Rosie Albisu "did not allow or consent to the plaintiff moving his cattle across their land." *Id.* at 455. He denied that this ever happened. Mr. Wilkinson testified that John Albisu used to help Gary [Minor] go through the Albisu Property when it was BLM land. *Id.* at 489. Mr. Wilkinson testified that upon inheriting the Albisu Property, John and Rosie Albisu put up fences around 1998. *Id.* at 490. John and Rosie Albisu maintained the fencing of the Albisu Property and the No Trespass signage. John Albisu leased the Albisu Property to Mr. Wilkinson's cousins, Fred and Nick Wilkinson from 2011 to 2018. *Id.* at 468, 546. Mr. Wilkinson admitted that during that time, his cousins gave him permission to move cattle across the Albisu Property, and he would let them know when he intended to do a drive as per custom and courtesy. *Id.* Nick Wilkinson testified that John Albisu gave him instruction to get the dates from Mr. Wilkinson of his cattle drives and notify him of such. *Id.* at 551.

Ty and Linda Albisu own a cow/calf operation that utilizes all of the Albisu Property and certain BLM allotments. Ty Albisu testified that he had not witnessed any cattle drive of the Wilkinson Ranch across the Albisu Property from 2010 through 2018. He testified that the Albisu Property was fenced, gated, locked, and Further, he testified that no one ever made the had No Trespass signage. "customary" call to request access. Id. at 586. On March 26, 2019, the district court entered an order that allowed Mr. Wilkinson to drive cattle through the Albisu Property. JA v.1 at 173. The order allowed Mr. Wilkinson to drive cattle along the east and west boundaries of Ty's two 80- acre parcels. Ty testified that no cattle drive had gone along that route since he purchased those parcels in 2010. Ty testified that historically he saw the Wilkinson Ranch drive cattle down U.S. Highway 95 as well as by trucking cattle. Rosie Albisu was a housewife during their marriage. She testified that she never gave consent to Mr. Wilkinson to run cattle over the Albisu Property. JA v.4 at 637. John Albisu died by suicide prior to the trial of this matter, so there is no court record of his position.

Upon transfer of the remaining Albisu Property to Ty Albisu beginning in 2018, Ty and Linda Albisu have continuously and forcibly attempted to eject Mr. Wilkinson from using the Albisu Property for the spring and fall cattle drives, and for Mr. Wilkinson's use of the Albisu Property to move certain farm equipment in a manner convenient to him. To say the relationship between the Appellants and the

Respondent is hostile would be an understatement. The Albisus have suffered greatly at the hands of the Wilkinson family and continue to suffer to this day.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court district court erred in failing to join numerous parties as both Plaintiffs and Defendants in the case below, pursuant to Nev. Civ. P. 19(a). Specifically, Respondent is only one owner out of at three owners and interested parties of the estate the district court found to be dominant, and Linda Walker Albisu is a co-owner of the estate the district court found to be servient. This issue was raised before trial and during trial; however, the district court never ruled on the issue. In fact joinder of the Respondent's parties was ultimately uncontested. This failure has the distinct potential to result in duplicitous and harmful re-litigation.

An easement by prescription is perfected after five years of adverse, continuous, open and peaceable use. *Sloat v. Turner*, 93 Nev. 263 (1977). Mr. Wilkinson's use of the property in question had been historically permissive, not adverse. He ran no cattle across the Albisu Property until it was acquired by John and Rosie Albisu. Under John Albisu's ownership, any use of the Albisu Property by Mr. Wilkinson was permissive. Even if there were sufficient evidence to indicate that Mr. Wilkinson's use of John Albisu's property was adverse, the lease of the Albisu Property to Mr. Wilkinson's cousins, who then permitted Mr. Wilkinson to run his cattle thereon, broke any chain of continuity for adverse use. When the Albisu

Property transferred to Ty Albisu's possession, Appellants asserted their lawful right of exclusivity in the Albisu Property. At that time, Mr. Wilkinson's actions to maintain permissive use were not peaceable, as the evidence presented showed that it was indeed hostile. Mr. Wilkinson's use was not open and notorious. The district court found the Appellants to be on constructive notice during the statute of limitations period of cattle drives conducted by Respondent when the property was held in a leasehold by Respondent's family who consented to his use of it. Moreover, the Albisu Property is over 5,000 acres, and actions by Respondent are not in plain sight, even if conducted during the day, when Appellants have leased a large amount of land to Respondent's family. Mr. Wilkinson cannot establish that he has met the elements required to obtain a prescriptive easement over a continuous five year Thus, the district court erred in finding that Mr. Wilkinson had properly period. established an easement by prescription.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Necessary Joinder.

1. Standard of Review.

A district court's legal conclusions, including matters of statutory interpretation are subject to *de novo* review by this Court. *Douglas Disposal, Inc. v. Wee Haul, LLC*, 123 Nev. 552, 557, 170 P.3d 508, 512 (2007). "Court rules, when not inconsistent with the Constitution or certain laws of the state, have the effect of

statutes." *Margold v. District Court*, 109 Nev. 804, 806, 858 P.2d 33, 35 (1993). The Court also conducts *de novo* review as to legal conclusions regarding court rules. *Id*.

2. Argument.

NRCP 19(a) states:

A person who is subject to service of process and whose joinder will not deprive the court of jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action shall be joined as a party in the action if

- (1) in his absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or
- (2) he claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may
- (i) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest or
- (ii) leave any of the persons already parties subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations by reason of his claimed interest.

A district court is obligated to, *sua sponte*, join a necessary party, if the litigants have not done so, and failure to join a necessary party does not constitute a waiver of the issue. *Blaine Equip. Co. v. State*, 122 Nev. 860, 864 (2006). Failure to join an indispensable party at the trial level does not render the claim unreviewable at the appellate level. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 93 Nev. 655, 656 (1977) (finding that transferee is an indispensable party in an action to set aside the conveyance of transferred property).

In the instant case, not only did the district court fail to join indispensable parties *sua sponte*, but it also failed to even address the issue after it was raised by

both parties. Appellants raised the issue of joinder in four separate pleadings. It was raised first as a defense in the Amended Answer to the Complaint and Counterclaim filed on June 11, 2020. JA v. 1 at 147. It was next raised in Appellants' Response to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. JA v. 2 at 277. It was raised again in Appellants' Trial Statement. JA v. 2 at 301. Finally, it was raised in Appellants' Post Trial Statement. JV v. 2 at 344. In addition, Respondent conceded that he failed to join indispensable parties on his side. JV v. 2 at 338. Respondent acknowledged that he had presented a stipulation to Appellants to join his wife, Sue Wilkinson, and the trustees and beneficiaries of the Wilkinson Article 5 Trust. However, Respondent did not address the necessary joinder of Linda Walker Albisu. Nevertheless, the district court did not acknowledge the argument of necessary joinder it the final judgement, and no ruling was made thereon. This is reversable error.

In <u>Rose, LLC v. Treasure Island, LLC</u>, 135 Nev. Adv. Rep. 19; 445 P.3d 860 (2019), the Court addressed the question of whether a sub-tenant was a necessary party in a lease default and termination matter, ultimately finding that it was not. The Court defined necessary parties under NRCP 19 to include any third-party beneficiary of the property interest at issue and without whom, complete relief becomes unavailable to either the plaintiff or the defendant. 135 Nev. Adv. Rep. at 25. "The court must decide if complete relief is possible among those already party

to the suit. This analysis is independent of the question whether relief is available to the absent party." *Id.* (*citing <u>Humphries v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.</u>*, 129 Nev. 788, 796 (2013).

All owners of the dominant and servient estates in this matter should have been joined as each one's interests cannot be adequately represented by others. In *Eureka County v. Seventh Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 134 Nev. Adv. Rep. 37, 417 P.3d 1121 (2018), the Court stated, in part, "...we conclude that real property rights including water rights are unique forms of property, and those with an ownership interest cannot be adequately represented by others." 134 Nev. Adv. Rep. at 11 (*citing Dixon v. Thatcher*, 103 Nev. 414, 416 (1987).

In this case, the Wilkinson Article 5 Trust is the 50% owner of the Wilkinson Property and thus has a clear interest in the prescriptive easement that the district court found exists over the Albisu Property. The failure to include the trustees and beneficiaries of the Wilkinson Article 5 Trust could result in future litigation with the Albisus. Beneficiaries and trustees are necessary parties in actions relating to trust property. *Robinson v. Kind*, 23 Nev. 330, 337 (1897).

In addition, Kimble Wilkinson retains only an undivided 25% interest in the Minor Ranch. His wife, Sue Wilkinson, has an undivided 25% interest as well. All parties were necessary to any litigation involving real property rights. While Mr. Wilkinson stated that he is a beneficiary under the Wilkinson Article 5 Trust as to

the Wilkinson Property, life does not always go according to plan. The Wilkinson Article 5 Trust can be amended, and Mr. Wilkinson could not survive the vesting of the Wilkinson Property to him as a beneficiary under the trust.

Furthermore, Linda Walker Albisu is the owner of a one-half undivided interest in the Albisu Property which the district found to be the servient estate to a prescriptive easement. Linda Albisu's property interest is directly affected by this judgment. The district court stated in its final judgment that "claimant's use must 'be hostile to the title of the owner of the servient estate." JA v. 2 at 373 (citing *Howard v. Wright*, 38 Nev. 25, 29 (1914). The litigation could not stand if it failed to address the rights of all owners of the servient estate. The failure to comply with Rule 19 is fatal to Mr. Wilkinson's civil action, and the district court erred by failing to join indispensable parties or to dismiss this case accordingly.

B. Prescriptive Easement.

1. Standard of Review.

A district court's legal conclusions, including matters of statutory interpretation are subject to *de novo* review by this Court. <u>Douglas Disposal, Inc. v.</u> <u>Wee Haul, LLC</u>, supra. The standard of proof required to establish an easement by prescription is clear and convincing evidence. See <u>Jordan v. Bailey</u>, 113 Nev. 1038, 944 P.2d 828 (1997); <u>Jackson v. Nash</u>, 109 Nev. 1202, 866 P.2d 262 (1993; <u>Wilfon</u>

<u>v. Hampel 1985 Trust</u>, 105 Nev. 607, 608, 781 P.2d 769 (1989); and <u>Stix v. LaRue</u>,
78 Nev. 9, 368 P.2d 167 (1962).

2. Argument.

"The elements of an easement by prescription are five years' adverse, continuous, open, and peaceable use." *Stix*, 78 Nev. at 11. Respondent failed to meet all required elements to establish a prescriptive easement across the Albisu Property.

a. Respondent's use of the Albisu Property was not adverse under Nevada law until ownership passed to Ty Albisu, and thus the district court erred in finding that the elements of adverse use for the statutory period of five years had been met.

Adverse use is established by asserting a right to use the land. <u>Michelsen v. Harvey</u>, 107 Nev. 859, 863, 822 P.2d 660 (1991). In the case of a prescriptive easement, if there is cause to believe the use is merely permissive, it does not meet the threshold of being adverse. "Courts are reluctant to find prescriptive easements over open and unclosed land since such use tends to be permissive in nature and does not imply a hostile or adverse use." <u>Wilfon</u>, 105 Nev. at 609. In the case of <u>Wilfon</u>, "The mere fact that Hampel and his predecessors crossed over a corner of Wilfon's property does not show any hostile claim of right on Hampel's part." *Id*.

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