# **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

TY ALBISU, ROSIE ALBISU, and ANCHOR S-RANCH AND RENTALS, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

KIMBLE WILKINSON,

Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

**Electronically Filed** 

Jun 02 2021 06:14 p.m.

Supreme Court Case No.: 82112

Respondent.

# **ANSWERING BRIEF**

Tami D. Cowden, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 8994 Jacob D. Bundick, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 9772 **GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP** 10845 Griffith Peaks Dr. Suite 600 Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 Telephone No. (702) 792-3773 E-mail: <u>cowdent@gtlaw.com</u> <u>bundickj@gtlaw.com</u>

Attorneys for Respondents

#### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The judgment should be affirmed, as there was no need to either join additional parties, or to dismiss the action for lack of necessary parties. Here, the claimed absent parties were not necessary, as complete relief could be afforded without their participation. Additionally, the district court need not act to join necessary parties or dismiss them where their absence is the result of their own waiver. Here, Sue Wilkinson and the Trust expressed a willingness to be made parties (an offer rejected by Appellants) but did not seek to intervene. And similarly, Linda Albisu participated in the trial by assisting Appellants' counsel with technology, but despite her obvious knowledge of the dispute, she made no effort to intervene to protect any interests. Additionally, the absence of these parties did not impede their ability to protect their rights, as they chose not to do so. And, there is no danger of the existing parties facing future relitigation of the same issues, as these absent parties are in privity with the existing parties, and therefore, would be barred by issue and/or claim preclusion. Accordingly, the District Court did not err in refraining from ordering joinder of the cited persons.

The Court should also affirm the finding of a prescriptive easement, as the evidence presented was sufficient to establish clearly and convincingly that Mr. Wilkinson used the Albisu land to move his cattle for more than twenty years. He did so without permission from the Albisus, and he did so in an open and peaceable manner. As there was substantial evidence to support the findings of fact made by the District Court, the Judgment should be affirmed.

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

## I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DECLINED TO DISMISS THE CASE AS THERE WAS NO INDISPENSABLE PARTY

This Court should affirm the Judgment, as the District Court had no obligation to join any parties or to dismiss the action. Neither Sue Wilkinson nor the Trust were necessary parties to this litigation, wherein a prescriptive easement in gross was deemed established. Because an easement in gross has no dominant estate, it was not necessary for the co-owners of Mr. Wilkinson's estate to be parties to the litigation. Nor was it necessary to join Linda Albisu as a party after she became a co-owner with Ty Albisu, as it is not necessary to join an interested party who is known to be aware of the litigation, but fails to make any effort to join the assert her rights.

Furthermore, even if this Court deemed any of the parties cited by Appellants to have been necessary, the appropriate remedy would not be dismissal of the action. Instead, the remedy would be to remand the matter to the District Court, to join the parties to the action and to the Judgment.

# A. The Co-Owners of Mr. Wilkinson's Property Were not Necessary Parties to the Determination of the Prescriptive Easement Here.

Under NRCP 19, as it existed at the time the Complaint was filed, provided:

Rule 19. Required Joinder of Parties

(a) Persons to Be Joined if Feasible. A person who is subject to service of process and whose joinder will not deprive the court of jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action shall be joined as a party in the action if

- (1) in the person's absence, complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties; or
- (2) the person claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposing of the action in the person's absence may
  - (i) as a practical matter impair or impede the person's ability to protect that interest; or
  - leave any of the persons already parties subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations by reason of the claimed interest.

If the person has not been so joined as required, the court shall order that the person be made a party. If the person should join as a plaintiff but refuses to do so, the person may be made either a defendant, or, in a proper case, an involuntary plaintiff.

NRCP 19(a) (2018). Whether a party is necessary comprises a highly factspecific inquiry. Rule 19 "calls for courts to make pragmatic, practical judgments that are heavily influenced by the facts of each case." *Rose, LLC v. Treasure Island, LLC,* 445 P.3d 860, 867 (Nev. App. 2019) (citations omitted). No precise formula exists to determine whether a nonparty must be joined under Rule 19(a). *Id.* If a necessary party is not joined, the district court has an obligation to join that party *sua sponte. See Blaine Equip. Co. v. State*, 122 Nev. 860, 864-65 (Nev. 2006).

Appellants contend that Sue Wilkinson, the trustee of the Trust, and Linda Albisu were each necessary parties because of their respective interests in the Wilkinson or Albisu properties. However, none of these persons was necessary for a complete judgment here.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, even if one or more of these persons were necessary, they have waived their right to participate by failing to join. As they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Respondent is mindful that he asserted in his Trial Brief that it was "likely" that his co-owners were necessary parties and requested that the Court either join them or otherwise bind them to the Judgment. **II APP 338.** However, speculation about an outcome does not constitute a concession.

waived any right to join the proceedings, the District Court had no obligation to join them.

#### A. None of the Persons cited by Appellant were Necessary Parties, as Complete Relief could be Afforded the Parties despite the Absence of Co-owners of the Properties.

For purposes of Rule 19(a)(1), "the sufficiency of relief available is determined on the basis of those persons who are already parties, and not as between a party and the absent party whose joinder is sought." Ariz. Democratic Party v. Reagan, No. CV-16-03618-PHX-SPL, 2016 WL 6523427, at \*5 (D. Ariz. Nov. 3, 2016) (interpreting FRCP 19(a)(1)). Specifically, the subsection is directed at "whether a court can grant a plaintiff complete relief on all claims it is bringing, and not whether a defendant can have all potential claims against it resolved in one proceeding." Wheeler Peak, LLC v. L.C.I.2, Inc., No. CIV-07-117-JB-WDS, 2009 WL 2982817, at \*9-10 (D. N.M. Aug. 15, 2009); see also Puyallup Indian Tribe v. Port of Tacoma, 717 F.2d 1251, 1255 (9th Cir. 1983) (finding that court could provide complete relief in action over title to property without joining other parties who might also claim an interest in the same property). Here, the District Court was able to resolve the claims raised by Mr. Wilkinson, without the purported missing parties.

The Judgment entered affords complete relief among the existing parties. As relevant to the issues appealed, the primary issue to be determined below was

whether the historic driving of cattle by Kimble Wilkerson across the Albisu land had occurred for a continuous five-year period, was adverse, was open, and was peaceable.<sup>8</sup> Indeed, while Mr. Wilkinson testified as to his ownership of land adjoining the Albisu properties, no such ownership would be necessary to create a commercial easement in gross, the existence of which is fully supported by the evidence presented here. See Crane v. Crane, 683 P.2d 1062, 1064 (Utah 1984) (finding commercial easement in gross for cattle to be driven across land twice per year). The only difference between an easement in gross and an easement appurtenant is that an easement in gross is created to benefit its owner independently of his ownership of specific land. 3 R. Powell, J. Blackman, The Law of Real Property, ¶ 405 (1991). In other words, an easement in gross has no dominant estate. If there is no dominant estate, then the interests of Sue Wilkinson or the Trust would not be implicated and they could not be a necessary party to the claim.

Nor was the participation of Linda Albisu required to afford relief among the existing parties. Ms. Albisu acquired her interest long after the easement here had been established by Mr. Wilkinson's use. Her interests are identical to that of her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The other claims below, judgment on which was not directly challenged, either revolve around the same issues relating to Mr. Wilkinson's use of Albisu land, or alleged tortious acts. The trustee, Ms. Wilkinson, and Ms. Linda Albisu would not have been parties to the tort claims.

husband Ty Albisu, and those interests are identical to the interests previously held by Rosie Albisu. Indeed, the quitclaim deeds used to transfer the interests to Ty and Linda Albisu provide that the grantees receive "all the estate, right, title, interest, lien, equity, and claim whatsoever: held by the grantor." *See, e.g.*, V APPP 401. As their interests were identical, Linda Albisu's interests were adequately represented by her husband's status as a party in the case.

Appellants rely on *Eureka Conty. v. Seventh Jud. Dist. Ct*, 134 Adv OP 37, 417 P.3d 1121 (2018) for the proposition that real property is unique and therefore, the interests of owners cannot be represented by others. In *Eureka*, where water rights were at issue, this Court likened water rights to real property rights, and held that all persons with junior water rights were entitled to notice of the disputed issues so they could protect their own interests, based on the uniqueness of real property. *See Eureka Cnty.* 417 P.3d at 1126, citing *Dixon v. Thatcher*, 103 Nev. 414, 416, 742 P.2d 1029 (2018) (holding that injury to land was irreparable, due to the unique nature of real property). However, in *Eureka*, the other owners did not own the *same* property as the existing parties, and thus, each had a unique right.

Here, in contrast, there is no uniqueness. Linda Albisu has an undivided interest in the same parcels of land in which her husband Ty Albisu has an undivided interest. And, while relevant only to the extent the easement could be deemed appurtenant, Sue Wilkinson and the Trust have an undivided interest in the same land as Kimble Wilkinson. Thus, with respect to the issue of the prescriptive easement and the determination of a servient, and perhaps also, a dominant estate, each of the absent parties stands in the same shoes as their respective coowner/existing party.

Because the Judgment affords complete resolution of the issues, regardless of the presence of the absent parties, there were no necessary parties to be joined.

# B. None of the Persons cited by Appellant were Necessary Parties, as none claimed an interest in the property from which they were impeded from protecting.

The record is clear that each of the absent persons was aware of this litigation, but none file a motion to intervene to assert their rights. Thus, each waived their right to participate in the proceedings.

As Appellants note, this Court has determined that the joinder of a necessary party cannot waived by the existing parties in the litigation. *See University of Nevada v. Tarkanian*, 95 Nev. 389, 396, 549 P.2d 1159 (Nev. 1979) (failure of existing parties to raise the issue of joinder of necessary parties not a waiver of the issue). But here, the waivers in question were made by the purported necessary parties, who demonstrated disinterest in claim an interest in the easement issues related to their respective properties.

The Ninth Circuit, in interpreting the near identically worded FRCP 19, stated that joinder is "contingent . . . upon an initial requirement that the absent

party *claim* a legally protected interest relating to the subject matter of the action." *Altmann v. Republic of Austria*, 317 F.3d 954, 971 (9th Cir. 2002). Accordingly, where "a party is aware of an action and chooses not to claim an interest, the district court does not err by holding that joinder was "unnecessary." *Id.* 

"If an allegedly necessary party believes it has an interest in a pending action, it may seek to intervene in the action." *Rose, LLC v. Treasure Island, LLC*, 445 P.3d at 865, *citing* NRCP 24. Here, Sue Wilkinson and the Trust were *willing* to be joined, but they did not seek to intervene. Similarly, Linda Albisu actually participated in the trial by assisting Appellants' trial counsel with technology during the trial. Accordingly, she was obviously fully aware of the dispute, but she did not seek to intervene. In these circumstances, there is no error in declining to join these parties, because, as shown above, none were "so situated" as to have their ability to protect any interests impeded.

Nor is there any fear that the existing parties could be subjected to future litigation over the existence of the prescriptive easement, as the absent parties would be barred by issue or claim preclusion from relitigating the issue due to their privity with the existing parties. *See Tafoya v. Morrison*, 389 P.3d 1098, 1110 (N.M. App. 2016) (finding privity in easement based on the parties having the same interest in the real property); *Stratosphere Litig. L.L.C. v. Grand Casinos*,

*Inc.*, 298 F.3d 1137, 1142, n.3 (9th Cir. 2002) (finding privity when a party is "so identified in interest with a party to former litigation that he represents precisely the same right in respect to the subject matter involved"); *Shaw v. Hahn*, 56 F.3d 1128, 1131-32 (9th Cir. 1995)(finding privity when the interests of the party in the subsequent action were shared with and adequately represented by the party in the former action); *In re Gottheiner*, 703 F.2d 1136, 1140 (9th Cir. 1983) (privity may exist when there is sufficient commonality of interest). As the absent parties share the same interest in their respective real property as the existing parties do, any relitigation of the prescriptive easement issue based upon the Wilkinson and Albisu properties would be barred.

Examination of the specific circumstances here, and the manner in which the purported necessary parties are situated, shows that there is no basis for finding that Linda Albisu, Sue Wilkerson, or the Trust were necessary parties. Accordingly, the Judgment should be affirmed.

# C. Even if Any of the Absent Parties Could be Deemed Necessary, the appropriate remedy is a remand with instructions to join or otherwise bind the missing parties to the Judgment.

The addition of the purported necessary parties, whose interests would be identical to that of their respective co-owners already parties to the case, would have had no effect on the case on the progress of the case. Significantly, Sue Wilkinson and the Trustee were willing to be joined and would have been joined had but for Appellants backing out of the stipulation. Given these circumstances, while it is unclear why the District Court declined to expressly address the issue of joinder and determine the necessity of the parties, however, a finding that these parties were not necessary is implicit. Moreover, to the extent that the District Court's inaction could be deemed error, then such error is harmless. *Delaware v. Rowatt*, 244 P.3d 765, 26 (Nev. 2010). ("An error is harmless when it does not affect a party's substantial rights. NRCP 61.").

As shown above, the purported necessary parties had ample opportunity to participate in the litigation. And due to the identical nature of the interests, it is clear that complete relief can and was afforded by the District Court, despite the absence of the names of these persons from the caption. And, for the same reason, no viable risk of future re-litigation looms. Accordingly, vacation of the Judgment and dismissal of the action would be a waste of judicial resources. The action would be refiled, with parties duly added, and then the same evidence would inevitably be presented, likely to the same fact finder, as this was a bench trial.

There is no reason to suspect that any evidence would differ on retrial, given that the issue would remain whether Mr. Wilkinson's decades long use of the Albisu property was sufficient to establish a prescriptive easement. The presence of Sue Wilkinson and the Trust would have no bearing on that issue. And, Linda Albisu's ownership of the property came long after the requirements for an easement had been fulfilled, so there is no reason to suspect that she would offer any unique evidence. Indeed, Appellants willingly agreed that she would not be called as a witness, in order to retain her technical services during the trial. **III** 

#### APP 393:24-394:21; 396:1-397:5.

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